THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUN 05 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2011-CP-10-4201  
The Honorable Mikell r. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002807

---

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC, Respondent

v.

CARMEN D. SHEPPARD a/k/a CARMEN SHEPPARD a/k/a CARMEN DILLARD  
SHEPPARD, ALAN J. SHEPPARD a/k/a ALAN SHEPPARD, TD BANK, NATIONAL  
ASSOCIATION, LVNV FUNDING LLC, and DARRELL CREEK PLANTATION  
HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC., Defendants,

Of whom CARMEN D. SHEPPARD and ALAN J. SHEPPARD are the Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS CARMEN D. SHEPPARD a/k/a CARMEN

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Master in Equity Erred in Granting Summary Judgment for the Plaintiff after Appellant gave very specific reasons material to the Foreclosure in the hearing date September 6 2013 (R. pp. 165-195.) that would prevent granting Summary Judgment according to the SC Rule of Law.

This hearing original was scheduled by the MIE to consider Motion for Summary Judgment by Plaintiff, however Appellants would only know about hearing after previous Counsel sent a Notice to Appellants home informing them of Motion to be Relieved as Counsel. Previous Counsel was originally engaged and promised to take care of the blotched modifications at Auroras' hands.

Mortgage is written in Carmen Sheppards name, wife of Mr Sheppard. An \$880,000 mortgage for a school teacher. Mr Sheppard is simply working with the previous counsel to take care of this modification. Mr Sheppard has no idea the foreclosure has gotten to the level of disgust that he would find in the hearing this day. Actual Appellant, Carmen Sheppard has no idea of trouble going on at this point and expects the lawyer Mr Sheppard is working with has taken care of their home of 17 years. This would be the only hearing that Appellants are noticed of as all other Notices went to previous Counsel of Record. In this hearing Appellants inform the MIE and Plaintiff counsel that they have established contact with NationStar after getting Notice from previous counsel regarding his Withdrawal a couple weeks earlier.. Further that NationStar has found a niche loan that is a fit for Appellants specific large loan amount. In

addition the MIE is informed that Appellants have the means to make a mortgage payment. Appellant's have been informed by NationStar that their policy is one customer, One NationStar contact and that the Appellant now have a contact Ms Kim Cavanarough. The hearing would continue as previous counsel would walk into hearing and discussions would go on that are beyond Appellants understanding. Appellants make a request for time to have a chance to get another lawyer to review their case if any actions are going to be done by the MIE and Court along with at the Plaintiff request as Appellants are of the understanding that Foreclosure is now on Hold according to NationStar Representative until Modification is complete. The MIE informs Plaintiff that "Figures will not be Updated" (R. pp. 165-195.). Appellants inform MIE that there are numerous issues that have not been brought to the courts attention that are material to the case to prevent granting Summary Judgement. Also If the MIE and Plaintiff Counsel are considering other items regarding the foreclosure then these need to be included. Appellants leave court with understanding that Foreclosure is on hold pending the modification application. The MIE wishes Appellants best of luck. Then issues are brought up that are outside Appellants understanding regarding different issues with work. Mr Sheppard informs the MIE that we make good money but he has not worked in a job in some time. At this point we have met Auroras /NationStar requirements

- II. The foreclosure actions taken on Appellants primary residence simply did not meet the strict guidelines prepared to prevent this exact abuse by Chief justice

Toal's SCSC Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01. Regardless of the numerous attempts Appellants made to make mortgage payments and submitted packages with larges fees included to mortgage company, no decision was ever given to Appellants regarding their modification. Foreclosure sales were carried out three times that Appellants were made aware of after the fact while in the middle of a loan modification procedure. The Master in Equity Court was a complete error brought about by parallel or dual proceedings on NationStars behalf that brought complete chaos to the court and for this reason we pray that the South Carolina Court of Appeals will remand this case to trial court for further proceedings.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Appellant brought this matter is before the Court, pursuant to THE SUMMARY JUDGEMENT filed by the Plaintiff, NationStar and its representative, Dean Hayes, ("Plaintiff"). The Plaintiff has made numerous requests to the Master in Equity during the hearing in September 2013 after the Defendants counsel asked to be removed. The removal of Counsel being granted by the Master in Equity has left Appellant in the middle of a complex litigation for their primary residence that is being ruled on without details significant to the matter of law at hand being raised by previous counsel due to conflict and fees due from all matters that have been raised in conjunction with this case. Neither Appellants are lawyers and the Appellants have had numerous legal actions forced upon them during the time that previous counsel had

remained as counsel and partially represented them at best. It is for this reason that the MOTION for a NEW TRIAL was served on the court. The Appellants were working to find legal counsel to formally repudiate the actions of previous counsel and make Judicial Note of the actions that have been left out of the current foreclosure hearing. The Appellants request access to justice in the foreclosure of their primary owner/occupied residence and will address each of these actions raised in the MOTION for a NEW TRIAL.

The Plaintiff's Affidavit from NationStar and Motion for Summary judgment both served on the Court on June 6 2013 have had zero attention from Defendants previous counsel. As such none of the Defendants intentions, conflicts, rights or right to procedural due process have been expressed or preserved. For this reason, upon learning of the unauthorized act of our previous counsel and intent not to be bound thereby of the outcome Granted in the Plaintiffs Summary Judgment, The Defendants repudiate this act and any other action taken to date by the Plaintiff's counsel promptly. Citing (**Foxworth v. Murchison Nat. Bank, 134 S.E. 428, 136 S.C. 458 (S.C. 1926)**)

### **Facts**

1. *2011-05-02-01, The Supreme Court of South Carolina Mortgage Foreclosure*

#### *Actions*

“Foreclosure intervention” shall include any policy, process or procedure

employed by a Mortgagee for the purpose of seeking a resolution of a foreclosure action by loan modification or other means of loss mitigation. The Defendants have never received any "Foreclosure Intervention" on their home, "Owner-Occupied dwelling" is defined as mortgaged real property that is the principal residence of any mortgagor. Upon notice of the September 2013 hearing the Defendants see that NationStar's name has replaced Aurora as the loan servicer and contacts NationStar direct via website's 800 number. The Defendant was invited to work out a loan modification on or about August 28 2013 and put together preliminary figures that led the Defendants Loss Mitigation Officer from NationStar to open a Loan Modification file and begin working with the Defendants September 27 2013. According to the 2011-05-02-01 SCSC Mortgage Foreclosure Action Section B,1, **All proceedings in the foreclosure action shall be stayed until completion of such foreclosure intervention. The past hearing and the hearing scheduled the first week in October 2013 are a direct conflict to the stay in this Act and the defendants want to make Judicial Note of both conflicts with the 2011-05-02-01 Act**

2. The Defendants contacted NationStar on their own accord to inquire why the Defendants could not work out a Modification of some kind due to the Extraordinary circumstances cast upon them in the Defendants pending case that has been dismissed and marked "Ended" on numerous occasions while still pending an Appeal in Charleston County Court Case # 2011-CP-10-4537 that has a direct effect on the Defendant pending foreclosure. After learning of the pending case NationStar has provided Access to Justice to the Defendants in the

form of a pending “Foreclosure intervention” that includes a loan Modification. NationStar has informed the Defendants that Court Actions have stopped now that the Loan Modification is in progress while the Plaintiff’s Counsel and Charleston County Court’s MIE continues to proceed with Foreclosure and Assigning Tax implication along with changing basic \$\$ figures to the foreclosure that are way above the comprehension of the Defendants while the Defendant continues to reach out to capable lawyers to represent them in the complexities involved in this case. When Defendants contacted the Plaintiff’s counsel to discuss the modification the conversation was defined as having no meaning or relevance towards the ongoing hearings. A clear breach of Due Process and outside the definitions of the SC Supreme Court Mortgage Foreclosure Actions.

3. SCSC2011-05-02-01 B-1-C, States- Mortgagor has been afforded a full and fair opportunity to submit any other information or data pertaining to the Mortgagor’s loan or personal circumstances for consideration by the Mortgagee. Clearly not true in this case. The defendants want to Make Judicial Note of the crude acts toward the Defendants taken on behalf of Aurora Mortgage that were clearly outside of any full and fair opportunity in dealings with the Defendants. Further that the Previous Counsel has never made any judicial notes at all regarding the issues and pending actions ongoing with the court so much so that new counsel will need time to simply understand what has not been done for the Defendants and what has been done to the Defendants while previous counsel was not engaging the court. This has ill effects on the

Defendants and has caused the Defendants significant hardship as the numerous cases thought to have been properly defended have continued to cause a backed up stack of unresolved matters of law. These legal actions need professional legal attention. This has left the Defendants in a frenzy trying to comply with the Rules of Court on numerous claims simultaneously and is far from a “full and fair opportunity “

4. The Court improperly granted a motion for summary judgment when The Defendant made note during the hearing on or about August 28 2013, which Foreclosure Intervention had begun with the talks between the Defendant and NationStar. This alone should have “stayed” the Hearing according to SCSC Mortgage foreclosure Act. Previous Counsel had emails directing him to submit affidavits and other admissions on file, to show that there “is” genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is not entitled to a summary judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRCF. (Specific issues follow) Clearly there have been some with holding of the Defendants current status regarding pending actions, available foreclosure intervention assistance, etc, etc, etc... that has caused a shift in the balance of justice that can only be corrected by a New Trial in Circuit Court.
5. The previous counsel has taken on his own initiative without a notice to the Defendants regarding this case and other pending cases that were completely resolved but continue to be called back to court. After the repossession of the Defendants primary vehicle in case # 2010CP1007009 that satisfied the Judgment in full. The Defendants reached out to previous counsel to get the

details of what is being done for the continued legal assault from the numerous cases. The Defendants were put on notice that previous counsel is “unable to help you any further without being paid. My schedule is too busy to put your case in front of other without being retained formally.” Leaving the Defendants in an unfair advantage that can only be sorted out in Circuit Court with a New Trial.

6. The Master in Equity submitted an “Order to Recuse” himself due to the individuals involved in the pending case and I forwarded it to previous counsel in order to show that the MIE has a conflict from the pending case and it has never been submitted. All of the same individuals involved in the original action that the MIE recused himself from are under Federal legal review that finds the same conflict at hand and is another basis for the Defendants Motion for a New Trial in Circuit Court. Previous Counsel was fully informed and has left the Defendants in an unfair advantage.
7. Darrell Creek Homeowners Association, Inc. is noted as a party to the Plaintiffs. Darrell Creek Homeowners Association, Inc. and the Defendants have a mutual release that shows The Defendants are not subject to the Restrictions and fees that is part of the record but continues to show up as a party to Action to the Mortgage company and is another resolved case that is still being pursued in another unresolved matter of law in connection with Charleston County Court that need to be resolved in a New Trial in Circuit Court
8. The Equity loan listed under TD Bank previously Carolina First Bank is another unresolved matter of law looked over by previous counsel and has significant

legal implication involving the current foreclosure proceedings. As the Defendant made note of in the hearing held on or about August 28 2013, the foreclosure and repossession of the Defendants North Carolina Farm that never had a mortgage note on it is being reviewed due to the similarity of documents used on the equity loan being from this same bank. These documents are being reviewed to confirm whether they were used to prepare closing documents to the Defendants North Carolina Farm that Defendants were not a party to. This clearly leaves considerable questions to the matter of law at hand and is another basis to the Motion for a New Trial to be answered in the circuit court with a jury.

9. Due to the numerous cases that The Defendants have been subject of and due to this extraordinary information significant to the matter of law at hand that was sent to the Defendants previous counsel having not been made note of in these hearings, the Defendants have made a Motion for a New Trial so that the Defendants may be afforded a full and fair trial according to the laws of the State of South Carolina in compliance with the SCSC Mortgage foreclosure Act..

## ARGUMENT

- I. The Master in Equity Erred in Granting Summary Judgment for the Plaintiff after Appellant gave very specific reasons material to the Foreclosure in the hearing date September 6 2013 (R. pp. 165-195) that would prevent granting Summary Judgment according to the SC Rule of Law. The Master in Equity Erred in moving the Foreclosure up on the timeline after Appellant notified Master in Equity that arrangements had been made with NationStar regarding a current loan Modification application and the "Niche Loan" found by the NationStar Representative. The Master in Equity Erred when updating the figures on Appellants Foreclosure after the Master in Equity acknowledged that he understood that Appellants had made arrangements with NationStar Representative. Further the list of Action (R. pp. 256-257.) show that actions continue to be carried out after Master in Equity is clearly informed that NationStar is engaged with Appellants and that the loan modification is basically approved. The Master in Equity action taken would be the direct reason that the loan modification would be denied. The Master in Equity Erred when designating this Foreclosure proceeding "No longer subject to the SCSC Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01 when falsely stating that Appellants did not respond to Foreclosure intervention process when Appellant specifically made note to the Master in Equity on numerous level. So many notes including verbal, (R. pp. 165-195.), Written Motions, Affidavits and Notices (R. pp. 149-155.), The Motion for New Trial after all these are disregarded by the Master in Equity. The Master in Equity's Order (R. pp. 10-69.), signed days prior to

Thanksgiving and received days before Christmas are so out of line with the truth that the Conflict of Interest has manifested itself again and could only be made right by a New Trial. The Master in Equity Erred when taking the Affidavit and Writ filed with the Clerk of Court on January 6 2013 (R. pp. 243-245.) into his own hands that include numerous significant material facts that the Master in Equity refuses to acknowledge. Including Appellants Affidavit stating she had never met previous counsel much less disregarded court documents he responded to. Appellants had pleaded for an opportunity to be heard regarding the different fraud that has been taken on the Appellants. The Master in Equity's office immediately requested a copy while Appellants actually filed the Writ and Affidavit. Appellants were given a copy and requested to take copy to Master in Equity office. Appellants informed Master in Equity of intention to file for bankruptcy if needed to protect Appellants home. Master in Equity would respond with that would be fine and scheduled a hearing for 10AM the following morning. Appellants are informed to locate a Court Reporter or take care of transcript. Appellants Arrive at 10AM where not one person other than guard was in attendance. 45 minutes go by and people begin to arrive by 11AM, Master in Equity has still not shown up. Right at 11AM with standing room only the Master in Equity walks in to the court room where he calls our case. What transpire was nothing close to a Full and Fair Opportunity to discuss the Bankruptsey of any other legitimate option as (R. pp. 196-203.) this was actually the prescheduled foreclosure sale (R. pp. 248-253.). The Master in Equity conflict would show up again as he makes it impossible for Appellants to have any kind of full and fair trial.