THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 11 2015

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2011-CP-10-4201  
The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002807

---

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC, Respondent

v.

CARMEN D. SHEPPARD a/k/a CARMEN SHEPPARD a/k/a CARMEN DILLARD  
SHEPPARD, ALAN J. SHEPPARD a/k/a ALAN SHEPPARD, TD BANK, NATIONAL  
ASSOCIATION, LVNV FUNDING LLC, and DARRELL CREEK PLANTATION  
HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC., Defendants,

Of whom CARMEN D. SHEPPARD and ALAN J. SHEPPARD are the Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC**

---

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On November 17, 2006, Carmen Sheppard (“Appellant”) executed a promissory note (“Note”) in the amount of \$880,000.00 in favor of American Brokers Conduit. (R. p. 14, lines 12-15.) In order to secure the Note, Appellant executed a mortgage (“Mortgage”) on real property located at 462 Commonwealth Road, Mt. Pleasant, SC 29466 (the “Property”), and delivered that Mortgage to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (“MERS”) as nominee for American Brokers Conduit.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 14, lines 16-21.) The Mortgage was recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Charleston County in Book 608 at Page 399. (R. p. 14, lines 9-11.) The Note and Mortgage were subsequently assigned to Aurora Loan Servicing, LLC (“Aurora”) on November 5, 2009 and then to Nationstar on October 11, 2012. (R. p. 14, lines 22-24.) The Appellant did not make the required payments under the Note. (R. p. 14, lines 28-30.) As of November 19, 2012, Appellant owed \$1,175,196.92 in principal, interest, charges and fees on the Note.<sup>2</sup>

In light of Appellant’s default, this foreclosure action was instituted by Nationstar’s predecessor in interest, Aurora<sup>3</sup> on June 14, 2011. (R. pp. 79-86.) Aurora filed a Notice of Foreclosure Intervention pursuant to S.C. Supreme Court Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01 (“Administrative Order”), with its Complaint. (R. p. 73.) Appellant and Defendant Alan Sheppard (collectively the “Sheppards”), filed an Answer to the Complaint on July 13, 2011. (R. pp. 93-132.) On June 12, 2012, more than a year after the notice of foreclosure intervention was

---

<sup>1</sup> Defendant Alan Sheppard is not a party to the Note or Mortgage.

<sup>2</sup> The Property was sold at a later foreclosure sale and the deficiency waived. (R. p. 72.)

<sup>3</sup> Nationstar completed its acquisition of all servicing assets of Aurora Bank FSB and its subsidiary, Aurora Loan Services, LLC on June 29, 2012.

filed, Aurora filed a Certification of Mortgage Non-Compliance indicating that the Sheppards failed, refused or voluntarily elected not to participate in any foreclosure intervention process. (R. pp. 205-206.)

An order substituting Nationstar as Plaintiff in place of Aurora was entered on November 29, 2012 amending the caption of the foreclosure action to show Nationstar Mortgage LLC as the proper plaintiff and lienholder. (R. pp. 7-8.) Nationstar filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on June 5, 2013.<sup>4</sup> (R. p. 143.) Nationstar served a Notice of Hearing regarding its Motion for Summary Judgment on August 16, 2013, giving notice that Nationstar's Motion for Summary Judgment would be heard September 6, 2013. The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough orally granted summary judgment in favor of Nationstar on September 6, 2013.<sup>5</sup> (R. p. 13.) A second hearing on Nationstar's Motion for Summary Judgment was held on October 2, 2013, in order to allow Nationstar to update its judgment figures. (R. p. 13.) The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough signed the final Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale ("Summary Judgment Order") in favor of Nationstar on November 19, 2013, and that order was subsequently filed on November 25, 2013. (R. pp. 10-21.) On December 23, 2013, the Sheppards filed and served a notice of appeal of the Summary Judgment Order.<sup>6</sup> (R. pp. 156-164.) The Property was sold at foreclosure on January 7, 2014. (R. p. 72.) The Sheppards attended the January 7, 2014, foreclosure sale and made a motion with Master-In-Equity, Judge Scarborough, to stay that sale, which Judge Scarborough denied. (R. p. 70.) The Sheppards made a motion to stay their eviction with this Court on August 19, 2014, which has also been denied.

---

<sup>4</sup> The caption of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment identifies "Aurora Loan Services, LLC" as the Plaintiff, however, Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was filed after the November 29, 2012 order substituting Nationstar Mortgage LLC as the correct plaintiff and lienholder. The misidentification is a mere scrivener's error.

<sup>5</sup> The order was not reduced to writing and signed by Judge Scarborough until November 19, 2014 and was later filed on November 25, 2014.

<sup>6</sup> The Sheppards subsequently filed an amended notice of appeal on February 7, 2014, removing Alan Sheppard as an appellant and identifying only Carmen Sheppard as the appellant. Accordingly, Respondent addresses this appeal as being made only by Appellant Carmen Sheppard.

Appellant Carmen Sheppard now attempts to raise five (5) issues on appeal:<sup>7</sup> (1) that the Master-In-Equity erred in granting summary judgment in light of alleged statements made by Defendant Alan Sheppard at the summary judgment hearing; (2) that the Master-In-Equity erred in moving the foreclosure timeline up after Appellant Alan Sheppard represented that arrangements for a loan modification had been made; (3) that the Master-In-Equity erred by allowing Nationstar to update its judgment figures in light of Appellant Alan Sheppard's alleged loan modification arrangement; (4) that the Master-In-Equity erred in designating the foreclosure proceeding as no longer subject to S.C. Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01; and (5) that the Master-In-Equity erred by "taking the Writ filed with the Clerk of Court...into his own hands."

This Court should affirm the Summary Judgment Order and dismiss this appeal for the following four reasons: (1) Appellant has failed to perfect her appeal; (2) this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider Appellant's issues on appeal; (3) Appellant has failed to preserve her issues for appeal; and (4) the Master-In-Equity properly found that Appellant's loan was no longer subject to S.C. Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Appellant has failed to perfect her appeal.**

Appellant has failed to comply with the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules by failing to timely order a transcript of the proceedings from which she appeals. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss Appellant's appeal and affirm the Summary Judgment Order.

Rule 207 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules requires that Appellant "shall, within the time provided for ordering the transcript, make satisfactory arrangements (including agreement regarding payment for the transcript), in writing with the court reporter for furnishing

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant enumerates a sixth paragraph "VI" in her issues, but this paragraph does not identify any alleged error, or issue for appeal. Therefore, Respondent addresses issues 1 through 5.

the transcript. *See* Rule 207(a)(1), SCACR. The transcript must be ordered within ten (10) days after the notice of appeal is served. *Id.* Furthermore, Appellant has a duty to furnish all correspondence with the court reporter to the parties and this Court. *Id.*

Here, Appellant served her notice of appeal on December 23, 2013, and, therefore, had until January 2, 2014, to order the transcript of the September summary judgment proceeding under Rule 207. Appellant failed to timely order a transcript of the September proceeding. Indeed, Appellant advised this Court on February 7, 2014, that Appellant had ordered the transcript from the foreclosure sale hearing on January 7, 2014, (the “January Hearing,”), but Appellant provided no indication on the status of the transcript from the September 6, 2013, summary judgment hearing (the “September Hearing”), from which Appellant noticed her appeal. (*See* Letter from Appellant filed Feb. 7, 2014.) Appellant subsequently attached a copy of the transcript from the September Hearing to Appellants “Application for Relief,” filed March 26, 2014, but Appellant offered no indication that the transcript was timely ordered. Accordingly, Appellant has failed to comply with the Rule 207 by failing to timely order the transcript of the September Hearing and/or failing to furnish correspondence regarding the September Hearing to counsel and the Court. Therefore, this appeal should be dismissed and the Summary Judgment Order affirmed.

**II. This Court lacks jurisdiction to consider Appellant’s issues.**

The issues raised by Appellant in her initial brief were issues raised at the January Hearing, not the September Hearing from which Appellant noticed her appeal. Because Appellant has failed to notice an appeal from the January Hearing, this court lacks jurisdiction to consider Appellant’s issues.

Under South Carolina law, a party intending to appeal an order entered by a Master-In-Equity must serve notice of their appeal within thirty (30) days after receipt of that order. *Rule 203, SCACR*. Indeed, “The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, *i.e.*, if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004).

Here, Appellant’s issues 1 through 4 are predicated on the contention that the Master-In-Equity erred by ruling that “this foreclosure proceeding was ‘[n]o longer subject to the SCSC Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01,’” in light of alleged statements by Defendant Alan Sheppard regarding loan modification “arrangement” with Nationstar. (Appellant’s initial brief pp. 1-2) Further, Appellant’s fifth issue is related to the Master-In-Equity’s denial of an “Affidavit and Writ filed with the Clerk of January 6, 2013.”<sup>8</sup>

Appellant’s issues are based on events at the January Hearing. Appellant did not notice an appeal from the January Hearing. Indeed, contrary to the issues presented in this appeal, Appellant’s initial brief shows that Defendant Alan Sheppard’s alleged representations regarding a modification “arrangement” were made with respect to the Sheppards’ Motion to Stay the Foreclosure sale, which was heard and denied at the January Hearing. (R. pp. 196-202.) The transcript from the September Hearing shows that no statements were made by Alan Sheppard or Carmen Sheppard related to any modification arrangement. (R. pp. 165-195.) The January Hearing transcript, however, shows that Defendant Alan Sheppard specifically stated to the Master-In-Equity, that “all we ask is that you let our attorney just deal with [Nationstar]. Let us do a Cash for Keys or something like that. We’d certainly be open to it instead of, you know,

---

<sup>8</sup> The Writ and Affidavit were actually filed on January 6, 2014.

just losing our house.” (R. p. 201, lines 18-21.) Thus, the issues raised by Appellant in this appeal were not issues raised at September Hearing, but were instead raised at the January Hearing. Appellant does not appeal the January Hearing and, therefore, this court lacks jurisdiction to consider these issues.

Moreover, and as argued below, when an issue is not raised before the court, it is not preserved for appeal. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 75, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Because the issues raised on this appeal were not raised at the September Hearing, they were not preserved for this appeal.

Furthermore, Appellant’s fifth issue related to the affidavit and writ filed by Appellant could not have possibly been raised at the September Hearing, as Appellant admits to not filing the affidavit and writ until January 6, 2014.

Thus, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider the issues raised by Appellant on this appeal as Appellant has failed to notice an appeal from any order or judgment related to the January Hearing and the thirty-(30) day time frame for Appellant to appeal any order or judgment entered at the January Hearing has expired. Therefore, this appeal should be dismissed.

**III. Appellant did not preserve her issues for appeal.**

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Appellant’s issues were raised at the September Hearing, issues 1, 2, 3 and 4 still fail. The statements that Defendant Alan Sheppard allegedly made to the Master-In-Equity at the September Hearing, which Appellant contends should have stayed the foreclosure action, were not ruled on by the Master-In-Equity and, therefore, were not preserved for appeal.

Under South Carolina law, in order to preserve an issue for appeal, the issue must both be raised and ruled upon. *Wilder*, 330 S.C. 71, 75, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Furthermore, if an issue raised by a party is not ruled on by the trial court, then it is not preserved unless a motion to alter or amend is filed under SCRCP 59(e). *South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Group*, 347 S.C. 333 (Ct. App. 2001). Thus, when an issue is not addressed in a trial court's summary judgment order, and the appellant does not bring a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), the issues is not preserved. *BMW of North America, LLC v. Complete Auto Recon Services, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 444, 454-455 (Ct. App. 2012). Indeed, even if the issue is discussed by the parties at the summary judgment hearing, if the court does not rule on that issue in its summary judgment order, that issue is not preserved without a Rule 59(e) motion. *Bean v. S. Carolina Cent. R. Co.*, 392 S.C. 532, 559-560 (Ct. App. 2011). In *Bean*, although the parties discussed the possibility of additional discovery at a summary judgment hearing, the circuit court did not rule on Bean's discovery argument in its order granting summary judgment and Bean did not file a Rule 59(e) motion asking the circuit court to rule on the issue of insufficient discovery. *Bean v. S. Carolina Cent. R. Co.*, 392 S.C. 532, 559 (Ct. App. 2011). Therefore, the question of whether summary judgment was proper in light of Bean's desire to complete further discovery was not preserved for review. *Bean v. S. Carolina Cent. R. Co.*, 392 S.C. 532, 559 (Ct. App. 2011).

This same is true here. Even if Appellant's alleged representations were made at the September Hearing, the Master-In-Equity found that Appellant's loan was no longer subject to the Administrative Order based on the Certification of Compliance submitted by Nationstar's counsel. (R. p. 13.) Indeed, the Master-In-Equity did not rule that Nationstar complied with the Administrative Order despite the Sheppards' alleged loan modification arrangement, nor did he

rule that this action should not be stayed in light of the Sheppards' alleged arrangement. (R. p. 13.) Neither the Summary Judgment Order, the transcript of the September Hearing, nor the Certification of Compliance, makes any mention or determination with respect to the whether Appellant's alleged loan modification arrangement should act as a stay on all litigation, as Appellant contends. Therefore, the issues raised on appeal, and based on the alleged modification arrangement were not ruled upon. Thus, because Appellant did not file a Rule 59(e) motion,<sup>9</sup> those issues were not preserved for review on appeal.

Additionally, Appellant's fourth issue specifically contends that the Master-In-Equity erred by finding the "foreclosure proceeding" was no longer subject to the Administrative Order. However, the Summary Judgment Order clearly states that "the *loan* is no longer subject to the [Administrative Order]." (emphasis added.) Thus, based on a plain reading of the Summary Judgment Order, Appellant's fourth issue was not ruled on at the September Hearing, as the Summary Judgment Order only addresses whether Appellants loan was still subject to the Administrative Order, and not the foreclosure proceeding.

Based on the above, Appellant's first four issues were not preserved for appeal, and the Court should affirm the summary judgment order.

**IV. The Master-In-Equity properly found that Appellant's loan was no longer subject to the Administrative Order.**

Issues 1, 2, 3 and 4 in Appellant's initial brief fail as the Master-In-Equity did not err in determining that Appellant's loan was no longer subject to the Administrative Order.

The Administrative Order provides that "if within thirty days after having been served with notice of the Mortgagor's rights [to foreclosure intervention], the Mortgagor has failed, refused, or voluntarily elected not to participate in any foreclosure intervention process, the

---

<sup>9</sup> Appellant apparently made such a motion prior to the September Hearing, which was denied by the Master In Equity. (R. p. 17, lines 18-22.)

Mortgagee, through its attorney, shall certify that fact to the Court, and the foreclosure action may proceed.” Furthermore, and with respect to loan modifications in particular, the Administrative Order provides that “in the event that the Mortgagor and Mortgagee agree on any loan modification or other loss mitigation plan . . . such Agreement shall be reduced to writing, executed by the Mortgagor and Mortgagee, and served on all parties in the case. Any pending case shall be stayed, and no hearing or foreclosure sale held for 90 days following the entry of any Agreement, unless the Mortgagor shall not comply with the terms of the Agreement.”

Here, the Master-In-Equity found that there was a Certificate of Compliance filed by Nationstar’s counsel certifying that the Sheppards were served with a notice of foreclosure intervention and failed to respond within 30 days. (R. p. 13.) Based on that finding, the Master-In-Equity found that Appellant’s loan was no longer subject to the Administrative Order. *Id.*

Appellant contends, however, that the Sheppards’ alleged modification arrangement should fall within the protection of the Administrative Order and, therefore, the foreclosure action should have been stayed. (Appellants brief, pp. 1-2) Importantly, Appellant does not contend that the Sheppards responded within 30 days to the notice of foreclosure intervention, as required by the Administrative Order, or that the Sheppards have a written and signed loan modification agreement with Nationstar. Appellant is simply mistaken as to the scope of the Administrative Order. The Administrative Order does not allow the court to stay a foreclosure action if mortgagors: (a) have a conversation with their borrower; (b) reach some tentative agreement with their borrower; or (c) enter into any other alternative arrangement with their borrower that does not comply with the Administrative Order. (*See generally*, Administrative Order.) Thus, the Master-In-Equity did not error in finding that Appellant’s loan was no longer

subject to the Administrative Order. Therefore, Appellant's argument fails and the Summary Judgment Order should be affirmed.

**V. Appellant's Recusal Argument**